The role of chemokines in neutrophil biology

Yoshiro Kobayashi

Division of Molecular Medicine, Dept. of Biomolecular Science, Faculty of Science, Toho University, Funabashi, Chiba, Japan

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Neutrophil recruitment
 - *3.1. Mobilization of neutrophils from the bone marrow*
 - 3.2. Rolling along and tight adhesion to endothelial cells
 - 3.3. Transmigration
 - 3.4. Fate of transmigrated neutrophils
 - 3.5. Genomic changes induced by transmigration
- 4. Chemokines as secretagogues
- 5. Chemokine receptor expression on neutrophils and chemokine production by neutrophils
- 6. Priming of oxidative burst by CXCL8/IL-8
- 7. Inflammation and carcinogenesis
- 8. Perspective
- 9. Acknowledgements
- 10. References

1. ABSTRACT

Neutrophils are the first to be recruited to a site of infection or a diseased site. Among various inflammatory mediators, CXC chemokines including IL-8 (CXCL8), MIP-2 (CXCL2), and KC (CXCL1) are the most critical for such recruitment. Neutrophils have been considered as effector cells that kill bacteria or destroy affected tissues mainly through the production of reactive oxygen species. Recent studies, however, revealed that neutrophils are involved in the production of chemokines in response to a variety of stimulants including LPS, TNF- α , and IFN- γ , thereby contributing to immunomodulation. These functions are also regulated by selectins during infiltration into various sites. In this review, I summarize the current knowledge on this area and propose that neutrophils are a fascinating target for basic as well as clinical scientists.

2. INTRODUCTION

Neutrophils are continuously produced in the bone marrow, and are promptly recruited to a site of inflammation or an injured tissue through the bloodstream in response to infection or injury. As compared with classic chemoattaractants, such as complement protein C5a and leukotriene B4, CXC chemokines, such as IL-8 (CXCL8), MIP-2 (CXCL2), and KC (CXCL1), are selective for neutrophils. Recent studies revealed that these CXC chemokines are the main chemotactic mediators involved in neutrophil recruitment in various *in vivo* models, as reviewed previously (1). Neutrophil recruitment can be categorized into several steps, namely mobilization from the bone marrow, rolling along and tight adhesion to endothelial cells, and transmigation. All the steps are regulated by CXC chemokines (2). At a site of inflammation or a diseased site, neutrophils exhibit various activities such as bacterial killing, tissue destruction, and angiogenesis through the oxidative burst, degranulation, and production of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). These activities are also regulated by chemokines, as described in this review. In addition, recent studies revealed that neutrophils are directly or indirectly responsible for the production of chemokines, thereby regulating an immune response, as described in this review.

Consequently, in this review, I focus on the mechanisms by which chemokines regulate neutrophil recruitment and how chemokines induce various activities.

3. NEUTROPHIL RECRUITMENT

3.1. Mobilization of neutrophils from the bone marrow

A variety of agents including G-CSF mobilize neutrophils from the bone marrow where stem cells differentiate into neutrophils, whereas SDF1 (CXCL12) causes the retention of neutrophils in the bone marrow. It was found recently that G-CSF suppresses SDF1 (CXCL12) expression in the bone marrow, thereby inducing the release of neutrophils from the bone marrow (3). In addition to G-CSF, LPS also induces neutrophilia. which is caused by down-regulation of CXCR4 expression on neutrophils (4). Furthermore, KC (CXCL1) also induces neutrophil release from the bone marrow, and the release is augmented by low doses of CXCR4-blocking antibody that otherwise shows no mobilizing effect, suggesting that KC may act on the SDF-1 (CXCL12)/CXCR4 axis (5). CXCR4 is a sole receptor for SDF1 (CXCL12), and of note is that surface expression of CXCR4 decreases in peripheral neutrophils as compared with bone marrow neutrophils and further decreases in peritoneal exudates neutrophils (5). Indeed administration of the cyclized CXCR4 agonist peptide (CTCE-0021) with improved stability elevates blood neutrophils (6).

CXC chemokines, such as IL-8 (CXCL8), MIP-2 (CXCL2), and KC (CXCL1), contribute greatly to several disease models in which neutrophils are recruited to diseased sites, as reviewed previously (1). G-CSF also plays an important role in regulating neutrophil responsiveness to IL-8 (CXCL8) and MIP-2 (CXCL2) *in vivo*, because G-CSF receptor-deficient mice do not have the expected neutrophilia after administration of human IL-8 (CXCL8) (7). Of note is that neutrophils from G-CSF receptor-deficient mice also exhibit significant defects of chemotaxis and adhesion in response to IL-8 (CXCL8) and formyl-methionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine (fMLP) (7).

Neutrophils mobilized in response to rat MIP-2 (CXCL2) were found to express more CD11b and CD49d (8). Blockade of CD18 increased this mobilization, whereas that of CD49d decreased it dramatically (8). Therefore CD18 and CD49d appear to play contrasting roles in neutrophil retention and release within the bone marrow. Although CD11b/CD18 (Mac-1) is expressed on the cell membrane, a proportion of it is targeted to specific (also known as secondary) and tertiary granules. Upon cell activation by chemotactic factors including IL-8 (CXCL8) and certain cytokines such as TNF α , the surface expression of Mac-1 increases several-fold within minutes due to the translocation of such granules and their fusion with the cell surface (9, 10). In addition to CD11b, it is also known that CD66b is up-regulated by activation with IL-8 (CXCL8) (11). CD66b is a member of CD66 family, and is phosphorylated following stimulation with fMLP, plateletactivating factor and phorbol myristate acetate (12).

3.2. Rolling along and tight adhesion to endothelial cells

During inflammation, neutrophils roll along the walls of postcapillary venules, CXC chemokines playing a critical role in this process. For this purpose, tissue-derived CXC chemokines have to traverse endothelial cells. An electron microscopic study showed that IL-8 (CXCL8) is internalized by venular endothelial cells abluminally and then transcytosed to the luminal surface, and that IL-8 (CXCL8) is presented to the adherent neutrophils on the endothelial cell membrane, predominantly in association with the endothelial cell projections. The C terminus of IL-8 (CXCL8) is required for endothelial cell binding, transcytosis, and the ability of IL-8 (CXCL8) to recruit neutrophils *in vivo*, suggesting that such transcytosis is essential for neutrophil recruitment (13).

Two molecules responsible for such transcytosis have been identified so far. One is Duffy antigen and the other is endothelial heparan sulfate. Duffy antigen is expressed on red blood cells, capillaries, and postcapillary venular endothelial cells, and binds certain CXC and CC chemokines. The Duffy antigen exogenously expressed in human endothelial cells facilitates the movement of CXC chemokines, in this case Gro- α (CXCL1), across an endothelial monolayer, and neutrophil migration towards CXC chemokines, such as Gro- α (CXCL1) and IL-8 (CXCL8), is enhanced across an endothelial monolayer expressing Duffy antigen. In agreement with this in vitro observation, IL-8 (CXCL8)driven neutrophil recruitment in the lungs was markedly attenuated in mice deficient in Duffy antigen (14). On the other hand, mice deficient in the enzyme N-acetyl glucosamine N-deacetylase-N-sulfotransferase-1 in endothelial cells and leukocytes, which is required for the addition of sulfate to heparin sulfate chains, showed impaired neutrophil infiltration. In these mice, chemokine transcytosis across endothelial cells and presentation on the cell surface were reduced, resulting in decreased neutrophil firm adhesion and migration (15).

Neutrophils scan the surface for IL-8 (CXCL8), which is transcytosed and immobilized through the mechanisms described above. The administration of MIP-2 (CXCL2) and KC (CXCL1) induced a dose- and time-dependent increase in neutrophil rolling, which was significantly inhibited by an antibody against P-selectin, suggesting that MIP-2 (CXCL2) and KC (CXCL1) induce P-selectin-dependent rolling (2).

Although IL-8 (CXCL8) arrests rolling neutrophils *in vitro* (16), no neutrophil arrest chemokine had been demonstrated *in vivo* until recently. In inflamed

cremaster muscle venules in TNF- α -treated mice, neutrophil adhesion was almost completely abrogated in Eselectin (-/-) mice treated with pertussis toxin, an inhibitor of chemokine signal transduction, and significantly reduced in CXCR2 (-/-) mice treated with a monoclonal antibody blocking E-selectin. However, the adhesion was not abrogated in E-selectin (-/-) or CXCR2 (-/-) mice (17). Therefore, CXC chemokine and E-selectin appear to mediate tight adhesion cooperatively.

Phosphoinositide-3 kinase γ (PI-3K γ) can be activated directly by the $\beta\gamma$ dimer of heterotrimeric G proteins coupled to CXCR2. PI-3K γ null mice showed a significant decrease in KC (CXCL1)-induced neutrophil adhesion in venules of exteriorized cremaster muscle. In wild-type mice rolling neutrophils showed rapid and sustained adhesion, but in PI-3K γ (-/-) mice, adhesion was not triggered at all. Lethally irradiated wild-type mice reconstituted with the bone marrow cells of PI-3K γ null mice showed a 50% decrease in KC (CXCL1)-induced neutrophil adhesion, suggesting that PI-3K γ must function in the adhesion of neutrophils (18).

3.3. Transmigration

Neutrophils then move in an ameboid manner across the endothelial cell barrier, followed by passage across the subendothelial basal lamina. The former process involves homophillic interaction of CD31 and JAM-A on neutrophils and endothelial cells where CD31 and JAM-A act sequentially to mediate neutrophil migration through venular walls (19). On the other hand, the latter process may involve proteolysis. Because the basal lamina comprises a dense meshwork of extracellular matrix proteins, including type IV collagen, laminin, fibronectin, and glycosaminoglycan, it is thought that the matrix proteins are degraded by matrix metalloproteases stored in specific (also known as secondary) and tertiary granules of neutrophils. Among MMPs, MMP-9 is thought to be a candidate that participates in such degradation. MMP-9 is indeed induced by not only ligation of L-selectin and Mac-1 (20) but also IL-8 (CXCL8) and TNF- α (21). In MMP-9 (-/-) mice, neutrophil infiltration was impaired at the peak during zymosan-induced experimental peritonitis (22). In such mice, however, neutrophils infltrated into the peritoneal cavity at later stages, suggesting that other mechanisms compensate for the function of MMP-9.

3.4. Fate of transmigrated neutrophils

Peripheral blood neutrophils circulate through the vascular system with a lifespan of 6-12 h (23), after which they die due to apoptosis, but under inflammatory conditions neutrophil apoptosis is inhibited *in vitro* (24) as well as *in vivo* (25). Such prolongation of life span may allow neutrophils to perform effector functions such as killing bacteria. In one study, IL-8 (CXCL8) and Gro- α (CXCL1) greatly suppressed neutrophil apoptosis, whereas they augmented superoxide anion production and phagocytic activity towards *E. coli* (26). In another study, however, IL-8 (CXCL8) failed to suppress neutrophil apoptosis, whereas GM-CSF, IL-6, and IL-15 suppressed it through down-regulation of Bax (27). In a second study, even when neutrophils migrated through human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) in response to IL-8 (CXCL8), neutrophil apoptosis was only minimally inhibited, while neutrophils transmigrating through TNF- α or IL-1 β -treated HUVEC were strongly protected against apoptosis (28). Overall, although it is not known at present why such a discrepancy arose, IL-8 (CXCL8) appears to be ineffective in prolonging the neutrophil lifespan *in vivo*.

3.5. Genomic changes induced by transmigration

Microarray analysis revealed dramatic gene expression differences between neutrophils which accumulated in the air spaces in response to bronchoscopic instillation of LPS and circulating neutrophils in man (29). Approximately 15% of expressed genes, including inflammatory- and chemotaxis-related ones and ones for antiapoptotic and IKK-activating pathways, exhibit altered expression levels. Functional analysis also showed increased superoxide release, decreased apoptosis, decreased IL-8 (CXCL8)-induced chemotaxis, and a different pattern of IL-8 (CXCL8), MIP-1β (CCL4), MCP-1 (CCL2), and TNF- α release in air space neutrophils as compared with those of circulating neutrophils. Of note was that many of these changes were not caused by treatment with LPS in vitro, suggesting that neutrophils sequestered in the lungs become fundamentally different from those resident in the circulation. In another in vitro study, IL-8 (CXCL8) and LPS induced partially overlapping transcriptional profiles, 50% of IL-8 (CXCL8)responsive genes being concomitantly regulated by LPS. IL-8 (CXCL8) also modulated a significant number of genes unresponsive to LPS (30). Future studies should clarify whether or not neutrophils sequestered in tissues such as the lungs in response to IL-8 (CXCL8) or MIP-2 (CXCL2) also show such dramatic differences.

4. CHEMOKINES AS SECRETAGOGUES

Neutrophils secrete their granule contents in response to a variety of secretagogues, including chemokines, TNF- α , and C5a, and/or upon interaction with endothelial cells via integrins.

Recently, a member of the TNF superfamily of ligands, B-lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS), was found to be stored in G-CSF-activated neutrophils and secreted by them. Although IL-8 (CXCL8) and Gro- α (CXCL1) did not induce BLyS de novo synthesis in neutrophils, they acted as potent secretagogues for BLyS stored in such activated neutrophils (31). A cytokine, TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL), is also synthesized, stored, and released from interferon-activated neutrophils upon stimulation with IL-8 (CXCL8) (32). In such cells, TRAIL is mainly retained in secretory vesicles and light membrane fractions that are rapidly mobilizable to the cell surface upon exposure to IL-8 (CXCL8). TRAIL is subsequently secreted by the cells. BLyS is important in B cell maturation and survival, whereas TRAIL exerts selective, apoptotic activities towards tumor and virusinfected cells, as well as immunoregulatory functions on activated T cells, and therefore IL-8 (CXCL8)-induced release of BLyS and TRAIL from neutrophils may play physiological and pathological roles in vivo.

Table 1. Chemokine receptors on neutrophils

Receptors	Stimulants	Up or d regulation	own References
CXCR2	substance P	Up	34
CCR1	GM-CSF	Up	36
	substance P	Up	34
	unknown	Up	37
CCR2	unknown	Up	37
	none		33
CCR6	TNF-α	Up	38
CXCR4	LPS	Down	4
	none		5

Representative ligands: CXCR2: CXCL1 (KC, Gro-α), CXCL2 (MIP-2), CXCL8 (IL-8), CCR1: CCL4 (MIP-1β), CCL5 (RANTES),CCR2: CCL2 (MCP-1), CCR6: CCL20 (LARC), CXCR4: CXCL12 (SDF-1)

Table 2. Chemokines produced by neutrophils

Chemokines	Stimulants	References
IL-8 (CXCL8)	LPS, adherence	39, 40
	LPS, GM-CSF+Zymosan	46
MIP-2 (CXCL2)	substance P	34
MIP-1α (CCL3)	substance P	34
	LPS, LPS+GM-CSF	41, 42
	Zymosan	46
MIP-1β (CCL4)	LPS	42
	Zymosan	46
Gro-α (CXCL1)	Zymosan	46
IP-10 (CXCL10)	IFN-γ, IFN-γ+LPS, IFN-γ+TNF-	43
	α	
MIG (CXCL9)	IFN-γ+LPS, IFN-γ+TNF-α	44
MIP-3a (CCL20)	LPS, TNF-α	45
MIP-3β (CCL19)	LPS, TNF-α	45

5. CHEMOKINE RECEPTOR EXPRESSION ON NEUTROPHILS AND CHEMOKINE PRODUCTION BY NEUTROPHILS

Neutrophils not only express CXCR1 and 2 but also CXCR4 (5) and CCR2 (33). Neutrophils also express CCR1 and CCR6 under certain circumstances.

CXCR2 is up-regulated by neuropeptide substance P through neurokinin-1 receptor (34). Although human peripheral blood neutrophils do not express CCR1 (35), GM-CSF treated neutrophils express CCR1 and respond to MIP-1a (CCL3), MCP-3 (CCL7), and RANTES (CCL5) (36). CCR1 is also expressed on substance P treated neutrophils (34) and neutrophils from adjuvantimmunized rats (37). CCR2 had been regarded as a receptor for monocyte chemoattractant MCP-1 (CCL2), but recently it was reported that CCR2 is expressed on neutrophils from adjuvant-immunized rats (37) and neutrophils from the bone marrow (33). CCR6, a receptor for LARC (MIP-3 α , CCL20), is also expressed on TNF- α treated neutrophils (38). These findings suggest that a variety of chemokines in addition to IL-8. MIP-2 and KC may participate in neutrophil infiltration and activation particularly under pathological conditions (Table 1).

Upon treatment with a variety of stimulants, such as LPS, TNF- α , IFN- γ and G-CSF, neutrophils produce chemokines, including IL-8 (CXCL8), Gro- α (CXCL1), MIP-1 α (CCL3), MIP-1 β (CCL4), IP-10 (CXCL10), and MIG (CXCL9) (39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45,

Table 2). Although there is a discrepancy regarding the production of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α by neutrophils (45, 46), the production of chemokines, such as IL-8 (CXCL8), Gro-α (CXCL1), MIP-1α (CCL3), and MIP-1β (CCL4), has been confirmed with highly purified neutrophils (46). Of note is that the production of each chemokine requires a relatively selective combination of stimulants. For instance, LPS and TNF- α induce the production of IL-8 (CXCL8), Gro- α (CXCL1), and MIP-1 α (CCL3), whereas IFN- γ plus LPS and IFN- γ plus TNF- α induce that of IL-8 (CXCL8), Gro-a (CXCL1), MIP-1a (CCL3), IP-10 (CXCL10), and MIG (CXCL9) (45). In support of the pathophysiological relevance of such in vitro findings, there are several reports on detection of chemokines in neutrophils in human pathologies (47, 48, 49) and several studies using a variety of animal models (50, 51, 52). A recent study showed that macrophage recruitment to cutaneous polyacrylamide gel-induced granulomas is the result of a sequence of inflammatory processes initiated by mast cell-derived TNF- α followed by neutrophil influx and MIP-1 α/β release (50). Another study showed that Toxoplasma gondii triggered neutrophil synthesis of MIP-1a (CCL3), MIP-1B (CCL4), RANTES (CCL5), and MIP- 3α (CCL20), followed by DC activation (51). The other study showed that neutrophils produce IP-10 (CXCL10) and MIG (CXCL9) in response to IFN- γ to recruit T cells in a delayed-type hypersensitivity response to HSV-1 antigen (52). Neutrophils themselves, however, do not always produce significant amounts of cytokines and chemokines under various conditions. For instance, we recently reported that, although neutrophils are required for the production of MCP-1 (CCL2) that leads to the accumulation of killer T cells upon injection of late apoptotic tumor cells, neutrophils themselves do not produce MCP-1 (CCL2) (53). In another study, we also found that in Con A-induced hepatitis neutrophils play a role in IFN- γ production and that neutrophils are not IFN- γ producers but augment IFN- γ production by T cells (54). Future studies should elucidate the mechanism by which neutrophils regulate the production of cytokines and chemokines in vivo.

6. PRIMING OF THE OXIDATIVE BURST BY IL-8 (CXCL8)

Superoxide-producing phagocyte NADPH oxidase consists of a membrane-bound flavocytochrome b(558), cytosolic factors p47(phox), p67(phox), and p40(phox), and small GTPase Rac2, all of which are translocated to the membrane to assemble the active complex following neutrophil activation.

Although IL-8 (CXCL8) does not activate NADPH oxidase, it potentiates the oxidative burst induced by stimulants such as fMLP and P-selectin. During priming, sialyl Lewis X epitope, a ligand for P-selectin, was redistributed to one end of the neutrophils, thereby facilitating oxidative burst induced by soluble P-selectin (55). Later, the same group showed that, during priming, PSGL-1, a major ligand for P-selectin that contains sialyl Lewis X carbohydrate structures, was redistributed to form a more compactly accumulated cluster, PSGL-1-containing lipid microdomains (also referred to as lipid rafts) (56). Another study also showed that, during priming, IL-8 (CXCL8) enhanced the Btk- and ERK1/2-dependent phosphorylation of p47(phox), as well as the recruitment of flavocytochrome b(558), p47(phox), and Rac2 into lipid microdomains, thereby potentiating the oxidative burst in response to fMLP (57). Consequently, the mechanism of priming by IL-8 (CXCL8) involves recruitment of NADPH oxidase components, fMLP receptor, and PSGL-1 into lipid microdomains.

7. INFLAMMATION AND CARCINOGENESIS

Inflammation associated is with carcinogenesis. In the lungs, the influx of neutrophils into the airways may be an important process linking inflammation with carcinogenesis, and induction of oxidative DNA damage by reactive oxygen species and myeloperoxidase-related metabolic activation of chemical caricinogens appear to be crucial for the process (58). On the other hand, when patients with early gastric cancer underwent partial gastrectomy, Helicobacter pylori eradication completely normalized mucosal lesions, and resulted in complete absence of neutrophil infiltration and a significant decrease in the tissue IL-8 (CXCL8) level, thereby presumably contributing to a reduction in the risk of carcinogenesis (59). Indeed it was found that IL-8 (CXCL8) promoter polymorphism increases the risk of gastric cancer, which is associated with the IL-8 (CXCL8) level and neutrophil infiltration (60). In another study involving an experimental tumor model, co-implantation of a foreign body, a gelatin sponge, into a benign tumorbearing mouse caused conversion of the tumor into a highly malignant one, which was due to neutrophil infiltration (61). All these findings may be explained by neutrophilderived reactive oxygen species.

Neutrophils are also directly or indirectly involved in VEGF release, thereby contributing to carcinogenesis. Infiltrating neutrophils positive for MMP-9 were found to be involved in VEGF release and activation from pancreatic islets during carcinogenesis of the islets in transgenic mice in which SV40 large T antigen oncogenes were expressed in all islets under control of an insulin gene promoter. Neutrophil depletion and MMP inhibitors significantly reduced such angiogenic switching, as did genetic ablation of MMP-9 (62, 63). In this model, it is not known what signals trigger the recruitment of neutrophils positive for MMP-9. In this regard, it should be noted that MIP-2 (CXCL2)-induced angiogenesis is mainly mediated by neutrophil-derived VEGF-A, because neutrophils from mice deficient in the src family kinases, Hck and Fgr (hck(-/-)fgr(-/-)), normally migrate and release MMP-9 in response to MIP-2 (CXCL2) in vitro, whereas they are completely unable to release VEGF-A or cause an angiogenic response (64).

8. PERSPECTIVES

Chemokines act on neutrophils in collaboration with cytokines such as $TNF-\alpha$ and/or

selectins *in vivo*. On the other hand, the process of recruitment, in particular rolling and adhesion, causes much more dramatic changes in neutrophil functions than treatment with chemokines alone. Therefore, research has been and will be directed towards elucidation of the molecular mechanisms underlying such changes, and the physiological and pathological roles of the changes.

It is accepted that neutrophils play a critical role as producers of chemokines in immunological and pathological settings. The *in vivo* role of neutrophils as regulators of the production of chemokines, however, has not been fully explored. Research along these lines would provide us with a new perspective on neutrophil function.

9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was partly supported by a research grant from Toho University, Faculty of Science.

10. REFERENCES

1. Y. Kobayashi: Neutrophil infiltration and chemokines, *Crit Rev Immunol* 26, 307-315 (2006)

2. X.W. Zhang, Q. Liu, Y. Wang and H. Thorlacius: CXC chemokines, MIP-2 and KC, induce P-selectin-dependent neutrophil rolling and extravascular migration *in vivo*. *Br J Pharmacol* 133, 413-421 (2001)

3. C.L. Semerad, F. Liu, A.D. Gregory, K. Stumpf and D.C. Link: G-CSF is an essential regulator of neutrophil trafficking from the bone marrow to the blood. *Immunity* 17, 413-423 (2002)

4. H.K. Kim, J.E. Kim, J. Chung, K.S. Han and H.I. Cho: Surface expression of neutrophil CXCR4 is down-modulated by bacterial endotoxin. *Int J Hematol* 85, 390-396 (2007)

5. B.T. Suratt, J.M. Petty, S.K. Young, K.C. Malcolm, J.G. Lieber, J.A. Nick, J.A. Gonzalo, P.M. Henson and G.S. Worthen: Role of the CXCR4/SDF-1 chemokine axis in circulating neutrophil homeostasis. *Blood* 104, 565-571 (2004)

6. L.M. Pelus, H. Bian, S. Fukuda, D. Wong, A. Merzouk and H. Salari: The CXCR4 agonist peptide, CTCE-0021, rapidly mobilizes polymorphonuclear neutrophils and hematopoietic progenitor cells into peripheral blood and synergizes with granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. *Exp Hematol* 33, 295-307 (2005)

7. T. Betsuyaku, F. Liu, R.M. Senior, J.S. Haug, E.J. Brown, S.L. Jones, K. Matsushima and D.C. Link: A functional granulocyte colony-stimulating factor receptor is required for normal chemoattractant-induced neutrophil activation. *J Clin Invest* 103, 825-832 (1999)

8. P.C. Burdon, C. Martin and S.M. Rankin: The CXC chemokine MIP-2 stimulates neutrophil mobilization from the rat bone marrow in a CD49d-dependent manner. *Blood* 105, 2543-2548 (2005)

9. L.J. Miller, D.F. Bainton, N. Borrengaard and T.A. Springer: Stimulated mobilization of monocyte Mac-1 and p150,95 adhesion proteins from an intracellular vesicular compartment to the cell surface. *J Clin Invest* 80. 535-544 (1987)

10. N. Borrengaard, L.J. Miller and T.A. Springer: Chemoattractant-regulated mobilization of a novel intracellular compartment in human neutrophils. *Science* 237. 1204-1206 (1987)

11. S. Wittmann, G. Rothe, G. Schmitz and D. Frohlich: Cytokine upregulation of surface antigens correlates to the priming of the neutrophil oxidative burst response. *Cytometry A* 57, 53-62 (2004)

12. K.M. Skubitz, K.D. Campbell, K. Ahmed and A.P. Skubitz: CD66 family members are associated with tyrosine kinase activity in human neutrophils. *J Immunol* 155, 5382-5390 (1995)

13. J. Middleton, S. Neil, J. Wintle, I. Clark-Lewis, H. Moore, C. Lam, M. Auer, E. Hub and A. Rot: Transcytosis and surface presentation of IL-8 by venular endothelial cells. *Cell* 91, 385-395 (1997)

14. J.S. Lee, C.W. Frevert, M.M. Wurfel, S.C. Peiper, V.A. Wong, K.K. Ballman, J.T. Ruzinski, J.S. Rhim, T.R. Martin and R.B. Goodman: Duffy antigen facilitates movement of chemokine across the endothelium *in vitro* and promotes neutrophil transmigration *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *J Immunol* 170, 5244-5251 (2003)

15. L. Wang, M. Fuster, P. Sriramarao and J.D. Esko: Endothelial heparan sulfate deficiency impairs L-selectinand chemokine-mediated neutrophil trafficking during inflammatory responses. *Nat Immunol* 6, 902-910 (2005)

16. G.E. Rainger, A.C. Fisher and G.B. Nash: Endothelialborne platelet-activating factor and interleukin-8 rapidly immobilize rolling neutrophils. *Am J Physiol* 272, 114-122 (1997)

17. M.L. Smith, T.S. Olson and K. Ley: CXCR2- and Eselectin-induced neutrophil arrest during inflammation *in vivo. J Exp Med* 200, 935-939 (2004)

18. D.F. Smith, T.L. Deem, A.C. Bruce, J. Reutershan, D. Wu and K. Ley: Leukocyte phosphoinositide-3 kinase γ is required for chemokine-induced, sustained adhesion under flow *in vivo*. *J Leukoc Biol* 80, 1491-1499 (2006)

19. A. Woodfin, C.A. Reichel, A. Khandoga, M. Corada, M.B. Voisin, C. Scheiermann, D.O. Haskard, E. Dejana, F. Krombach and S. Nourshargh: JAM-A mediates neutrophil transmigration in a stimulus-specific manner *in vivo*: evidence for sequential roles for JAM-A and PECAM-1 in neutrophil transmigration. *Blood* (2007) [Epub ahead of print] PMID: 17505016

20. J. Wize, I. Sopata, A. Smerdel and S. Maslinski: Ligation of selectin L and integrin CD11b/CD18 (Mac-1) induces release of gelatinase B (MMP-9) from human neutrophils. *Inflamm Res* 47, 325-327 (1998)

21. J. Pugin, M.C. Widmer, S. Kossodo, C.M. Liang, H.L. 2nd, Preas and A.F. Suffredini: Human neutrophils secrete gelatinase B *in vitro* and *in vivo* in response to endotoxin and proinflammatory mediators. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 20, 458-464 (1999)

22. E. Kolaczkowska, M. Chadzinska, A. Scislowska-Czarnecka, B. Plytycz, G. Opdenakker and B. Arnold: Gelatinase B/matrix metalloproteinase-9 contributes to cellular infiltration in a murine model of zymosan peritonitis. *Immunobiology* 211, 137-148 (2006)

23. C.R. Bishop, G. Rothstein, H.E. Ashenbrucker and J.W. Athens: Leukokinetic studies. XIV. Blood neutrophil kinetics in chronic steady-state neutropenia. *J Clin Invest* 50, 1678-1689 (1971)

24. F. Colotta, F. Re, N. Polentarutti, S. Sozzani and A, Mantovani: Modulation of granulocyte survival and programmed cell death by cytokines and bacterial products. *Blood* 80, 2012-2020 (1992)

25. W. Ertel, M. Keel, M. Infanger, U. Ungethüm, U. Steckholzer and O. Trentz: Circulating mediators in serum of injured patients with septic complications inhibit neutrophil apoptosis through up-regulation of protein-tyrosine phosphorylation. *J Trauma* 44, 767-775 (1998)

26. A.L. Dunican, S.J. Leuenroth, A. Ayala and H.H. Simms: CXC chemokine suppression of polymorphonuclear leukocytes apoptosis and preservation of function is oxidative stress independent. *Shock* 13, 244-250 (2000)

27. L. Ottonello, G. Frumento, N. Arduino, M. Bertolotto, P. Dapino, M. Mancini and F. Dallegri: Differential regulation of spontaneous and immune complex-induced neutrophil apoptosis by proinflammatory cytokines. Role of oxidants, Bax and caspase-3. *J Leukoc Biol* 72, 125-132 (2002)

28. H.M. McGettrick, J.M. Lord, K.Q. Wang, G.E. Rainger, C.D. Buckley and G.B. Nash: Chemokine- and adhesion-dependent survival of neutrophils after transmigration through cytokine-stimulated endothelium. *J Leukoc Biol* 79, 779-788 (2006)

29. C.D. Coldren, J.A. Nick, K.R. Poch, M.D. Woolum, B.W. Fouty, J.M. O'Brien, M.P. Gruber, M.R. Zamora, D. Svetkauskaite, D.A. Richter, Q. He, J.S. Park, K.H. Overdier, E. Abraham and M.W. Geraci: Functional and genomic changes induced by alveolar transmigration in human neutrophils. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 291, 1267-1276 (2006)

30. F.O. Martinez, M. Sironi, A. Vecchi, F. Colotta, A. Mantovani and M. Locati: IL-8 induces a specific transcriptional profile in human neutrophils: synergism with LPS for IL-1 production. *Eur J Immunol* 34, 2286-2292 (2004)

31. P. Scapini, A. Carletto, B. Nardelli, F. Calzetti, V. Roschke, F. Merigo, N. Tamassia, S. Pieropan, D. Biasi, A. Sbarbati, S. Sozzani, L. Bambara and M.A. Cassatella: Proinflammatory mediators elicit secretion of the intracellular B-lymphocyte stimulator pool (BLyS) that is stored in activated neutrophils: implications for inflammatory diseases. *Blood* 105, 830-837 (2005)

32. M.A. Cassatella, V. Huber, F. Calzetti, D. Margotto, N. Tamassia, G. Peri, A. Mantovani, L. Rivoltini and C. Tecchio: Interferon-activated neutrophils store a TNF-related apoptosis inducing ligand (TRAIL/Apo-2 ligand) intracellular pool that is readily mobilizable following exposure to proinflammatory mediators. *J Leukoc Biol* 79, 123-132 (2006)

33. S. Iida, T. Kohro, T. Kodama, S. Nagata and R. Fukunaga: Identification of CCR2, flotillin, and gp49B genes as new G-CSF targets during neutrophilc differentiation. *J Leukoc Biol* 78, 481-490 (2005)

34. J. Sun, R.D. Ramnath and M. Bhatia: Neuropeptide substance P upregulayes chemokine and chemokine receptor expression in primary mouse neutrophils. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 293, 696-704 (2007)

35. S.B. Su, N. Mukaida, J. Wang, H. Nomura and K. Matsushima: Preparation of specific antibodies to a C-C chemokine receptor, CCR1, and determination of CCR1 expression on various types of leukocytes. *J Leukoc Biol* 60, 658-666 (1996)

36. S.S. Cheng, J.J. Lai, N.W. Lukacs and S.L. Kunkel: Granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor upregulates CCR1 in human neutrophils. *J Immunol* 166, 1178-1184 (2001)

37. B. Johnston, A.R. Burns, M. Suematsu, T.B. Issekutz, R.C. Woodman and P. Kubes: Chronic inflammation upregulates chemokine receptors and induces neutrophil migration to monocyte chemoattractant protein-1. *J Clin Invest* 103, 1269-1276 (1999)

38. S. Yamashiro, J.M. Wang, D. Yang, W.H. Gong, H. Kamohara and T. Yoshimura: Expression of CCR6 and CD83 by cytokine-activated human neutrophils. *Blood* 96, 3958-3963 (2000)

39. R.M. Strieter, K. Kasahara, R. Allen, H.J. Showell, T.J. Standiford and S.L. Kunkel: Human neutrophils exhibit disparate chemotactic factor gene expression. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 173, 725-730 (1990)

40. F. Bazzoni, M.A. Cassatella, F. Rossi, M. Ceska, B. Dewald and M. Baggiolini: Phagocytosing neutrophils produce and release high amounts of neutrophil-activating peptide 1/interleukin 8. *J Exp Med* 173, 771-774 (1991)

41. T. Kasama, R.M. Strieter, T.J. Standiford, M.D. Burdick and S.L. Kunkel: Expression and regulation of human neutrophil-derived macrophage inflammatory protein 1 alpha. *J Exp Med* 178, 63-72 (1993)

42. T. Kasama, R.M. Strieter, N.W. Lukacs, M.D. Burdick and S.L. Kunkel: Regulation of neutrophil-derived chemokine expression by IL-10. *J Immunol* 152, 3559-3569 (1994)

43. M.A. Cassatella, S. Gasperini, F. Calzetti, A. Bertagnin, A.D. Luster and P.P. McDonald: Regulated production of the interferon-gamma-inducible protein-10 (IP-10) chemokine by human neutrophils. *Eur J Immunol* 27, 111-115 (1997)

44. S. Gasperini, M. Marchi, F. Calzetti, C. Laudanna, L. Vicentini, H. Olsen, M. Murphy, F. Liao, J. Farber and M.A. Cassatella: Gene expression and production of the monokine induced by IFN-gamma (MIG), IFN-inducible T cell alpha chemoattractant (I-TAC), and IFN-gamma-inducible protein-10 (IP-10) chemokines by human neutrophils. *J Immunol* 162, 4928-4937 (1999)

45. P. Scapini, J.A. Lapinet-Vera, S. Gasperini, F. Calzetti, F. Bazzoni and M.A. Cassatella: The neutrophil as a cellular source of chemokines. *Immunology Review* 177, 185-203 (2000)

46. A.K. Schroder, M. von der Ohe, U. Kolling, J. Altstaedt, P. Uciechowski, D. Fleischer, K. Dalhoff, X. Ju, M. Zenke, N. Heussen and L. Rink: Polymorphonuclear leukocytes selectively produce anti-inflammatory interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and chemokines, but fail to produce pro-inflammatory mediators. *Immunology* 119, 317-327 (2006)

47. E. Brandt, J.F. Colombel, N. Ectors, L. Gambiez, D. Emilie, K. Geboes, M. Capron and P. Desreumaux: Enhanced production of IL-8 in chlonic but not in early ileal lesions of Crohn's disease (CD). *Clin Exp Immunol* 122, 180-185 (2000)

48. T. Kondo, T. Ohshima, R. Mori, D.W. Guan, K. Ohshima and W. Elsenmenger: Immunohistochemical detection of chemokines in human skin wounds and its application to wound age determination. *Int J Legal Med* 116, 87-91 (2002)

49. Y. Akasaka, N. Morimoto, Y. Ishikawa, K. Fujita, K. Ito, M. Kimura-Matsumoto, S. Ishiguro, H. Morita, Y. Kobayashi and Y. Ishii: Myocardial apoptosis associated with the expression of proinflammatory cytokines during the course of myocardial infarction. *Mol Pathol* 19, 588-598 (2006)

50. E. von Stebt, M. Metz, G. Milon, J. Knop and M. Maurer: Early macrophage influx to sites of cutaneous granuloma formation is dependent on MIP-1alpha/beta released from neutrophils recruited by mast cell-derived TNFalpha. *Blood* 101, 210-215 (2003)

51. S. Bennouna, S.K. Bliss, T.J. Curiel and E.Y. Denkers: Cross-talk in the innate immune system: neutrophils instruct recruitment and activation of dendritic cells during microbial infection. *J Immunol* 171, 6052-6058 (2003)

52. S.J. Molesworth-Kenyon, J.E. Oakes and R.N. Lausch: A novel role for neutrophils as a source of T cell-recruiting chemokines IP-10 and Mig during the DTH response to HSV-1 antigen. *J Leukoc Biol* 77, 552-559 (2005)

53. Y. Shiratsuchi, T. Iyoda, N. Tanimoto, D. Kegai, K. Nagata and Y. Kobayashi: Infiltrating neutrophils induce allospecific CTL in response to immunization with apoptotic cells via MCP-1 production. *J Leukoc Biol* 81, 412-420 (2007)

54. S. Hatada, T. Ohta, Y. Shiratsuchi, M. Hatano and Y. Kobayashi: A novel accessory role of neutrophils in concanavalin A-induced hepatitis. *Cell Immunol* 233, 23-29 (2005)

55. K. Nagata, T. Tsuji, K. Matsushima, N. Hanai and T. Irimura: Redistribution of selectin counter-ligands induced by cytokines. *Int Immunol* 12, 487-492 (2000)

56. S. Itoh, C. Susuki, K. Takeshita, K. Nagata and T. Tsuji: Redistribution of P-seletin ligand-1 (PSGL-1) in chemokine-treated neutrophils: a role of lipid microdomains. *J Leukoc Biol* 81, 1414-1421 (2007)

57. C. Guichard, E. Pedruzzi, C. Dewas, M. Fay, C. Pouzet, M. Bens, A. Vandewalle, E. Ogier-Denis, M.A. Gourgerot-Pocidalo and C. Elbim: Interleukin-8-induced priming of neutrophil oxidative burst requires sequential recruitment of NADPH oxidase components into lipid rafts. *J Biol Chem* 280, 37021-37032 (2005)

58. A.M. Knaapen, N. Gungor, R.P. Schins, P.J. Borm and F. J. Van Schooten: Neutrophils and respiratory tract DNA damage and mutagenesis: a review. *Mutagenesis* 21, 225-236 (2006)

59. K. Hamaguchi, K. Ogawa, T. Katsube, S. Konno and M. Aiba: Does eradication of Helicobacter pylori reduce the risk of carcinogenesis in the residual stomach after gastrectomy for early gastric cancer? Comparison of mucosal lesions in the residual stomach before and after Helikobacter pylori eradication. *Langenbecks Arch Surg.* 389, 83-91 (2004)

60. A. Taguchi, N. Ohmiya, K. Shirai, N. Mabuchi, A. Itoh, Y. Hirooka, Y. Niwa and H. Goto: Interleukin-8 promoter polymorphism increases the risk of atrophic gastritis and gastric cancer in Japan. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 14, 2487-2493 (2005)

61. H. Tazawa, F. Okada, T. Kobayashi, M. Tada, Y. Mori, Y. Une, F. Sendo. M. Kobayashi and M. Hosokawa: Infiltration of neutrophils is required for acquisition of metastatic phenotype of benign murine fibrisarcoma cells: implication of inflammation-associated carcinogenesis and tumor progression. *Am J Pathol* 163, 2221-2232 (2003)

62. H. Nozawa, C. Chiu and D. Hanahan: Infiltrating neutrophils mediate the initial angiogenic switch in a mouse model of multistage carcinogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 103, 12493-12498 (2006)

63. G. Bergers, R. Brekken, G. McMahon, T.H. Vu, T. Itoh, K. Tamaki, K. Tanzawa, P. Thorpe, S. Itohara, Z. Werb and D. Hanahan: Matrix metalloproteinase-9 triggers the angiogenic switch during carcinogenesis. *Nat Cell Biol* 2, 737-744 (2000)

64. P. Scapini, M. Morini, C. Tecchio, S. Minghelli, E. Di Carlo, E. Tanghetti, A. Albini, C. Lowell, G. Berton, D.M Noonan and M.A. Cassatella: CXCL1/macrophage inflammatory protein-2-induced angiogenesis *in vivo* is mediated by neutrophil-derived vascular endothelial growth factor-A. *J Immunol* 172, 5034-5040 (2004)

Key Words: Chemokines, Neutrophils, Regulation, Recruitment

Send correspondence to: Dr Yoshiro Kobayashi, Division of Molecular Medicine, Dept. of Biomolecular Science, Faculty of Science, Toho University, Funabashi, Chiba, Japan, Tel:81-47-472-7696, Fax:81-47-472-7696, E-mail: yoshiro@violet.biomol.sci.toho-u.ac.jp

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol13.htm